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22 February  2013 

 
Dear Ms Heybroek 
 
Thank you for your e-mail of 4 August 2012 in which you ask for information relating 
to evidential flexibility.  Your request is being handled as a request for information 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000. I apologise for the delay in responding. 
 
We previously provided you with a copy of the Points-Based System (PBS) Process 
Instructions on Evidential Flexibility.  You subsequently clarified that you wanted a 
copy of all documents and instructions that have been issued to our staff in relation to 
evidential flexibility since 2009. 
 
Please see Annex A below for casework instructions issued to staff regarding 
evidential flexibility.  This includes a copy of “Evidential Flexibility - Slight Updates to 
Instruction and Questions Raised, 2009” and copies of two documents entitled 
“Document 1 and Document 2”.  
 
It is our general policy not to disclose personal information to third parties. This is 
because we have obligations under the Data Protection Act and in law generally to 
protect this information. We have therefore withheld the names and contact details of 
junior officials contained within the information disclosed to you because we do not 
regard this information as relevant to the substance of your request.  
 
You may also be interested in the published updates below. 
 



The Immigration Rules regarding evidential flexibility were updated in December 
following an announcement in November.  The statement of changes and link to the 
evidential flexibility requirements (see paragraph 245AA) can be accessed at: 
 
www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk/policyandlaw/immigrationlaw/immigrationrules/part6a/  
 
www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk/sitecontent/documents/policyandlaw/statementsofchan
ges/2012/hc760.pdf?view=Binary  
The policy guidance for all PBS routes includes details of the evidential flexibility 
policy.  I have attached a link to the Tier 1 (General) policy guidance which sets out 
the policy at paragraph 12: 
 
www.ukba.homeoffice.gov.uk/sitecontent/applicationforms/pbs/t1-general-
guidance.pdf  
 
If you are dissatisfied with this response you may request an independent internal 
review of our handling of your request by submitting a complaint within two months to 
the address below, quoting reference 23744.  If you ask for an internal review, it would 
be helpful if you could say why you are dissatisfied with the response. 
 
Information Access Team 

Home Office 

Ground Floor,  
Seacole Building 

2 Marsham Street 
London SW1P 4DF 

  
e-mail: FOIRequests@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk.  
 

 
As part of any internal review the Department's handling of your information request 
will be reassessed by staff who were not involved in providing you with this response. 
If you remain dissatisfied after this internal review, you would have a right of 
complaint to the Information Commissioner as established by section 50 of the 

Freedom of Information Act.  
 
Yours sincerely 

 
 
 
Daniela Walker 
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Annex A 
 

Evidential Flexibility - Slight Updates to Instruction and Questions Raised at 
the Friday Meeting - Mon 10/08/2009 

 
Tier 1 held a meeting with most of our teams on Friday (and with the two Tier 1 
teams currently doing Tier 4 work this morning) and at this meeting a number of 
points were raised.  As such, the following updates have been made to the guidance: 
 

 The phone/email/letter scripts have been amended to make sure it is clear that 
just because an applicant sends additional information, this will not necessarily 
result in an approval (cases are judged against the published guidance).  This 
should hopefully make it clearer to applicant where is they provide new 
information that is still unacceptable or does not show the criteria are met, the 
case will be refused.  This also covers the scenario where applicants provide 
further information which raises a new ground for refusal (for example bank 
statements that show they are claiming public funds and are not subject to an 
exception). 

 The evidential list has been updated to state "a bank statement not in the required 
format" - HEO/Senior Caseworkers can choose to allow caseworkers to go out for 
evidence is multiple bank statements are not in the required format.  This is in line 
with the intention that singular pieces of missing evidence listed in the guidance 
can be obtained without HEO/Senior Caseworker approval, but multiple pieces 
must require an HEO/Senior Caseworkers approval.  FAQ updated to state this. 

 
Most recent version of the instruction is attached (and in the Tier 1 folder here:  
 

 

Copies of Document 1 and Document 2 enclosed below 
 
Additionally on Friday a number of questions were asked, and they are as follows: 
 
When we send a follow up email after we have made contact by phone, can we 

ask for the Special Delivery number? 
 
Caseworkers should not ask applicants/reps/sponsors for a recorded delivery 
number.  If a customer chooses to provide this, caseworkers can use it to track the 
item via Royal Mail Track and Trace but they should not be actively seeking to obtain 
this via phone, email or letter. 
 
If an applicant states that they cannot get the item to UKBA within three days 
but they can in five days, can we give an extension? 
 
The deadline for applicants is three days for UKBA to have received their missing 
information.  Caseworkers cannot give extensions and must always state a three day 
deadline to the customer.  However in exceptional circumstances an HEO/Senior 
Caseworker may chose to allow this, however care should be taken when doing this 
as a precedent may be set.  The instruction will be reviewed in October and 



caseworkers/managers will have the opportunity to feedback issues on points such 
as this. 
 
We have been told that it takes HSBC 10-14 days to provide new original bank 
statements.  What do we do if an applicant states they can send faxed copies 
within three day but the originals will take up to 2 weeks?  What would an 
immigration judge say if this was refused? 
 
As with the answer above, the applicant must be informed that the deadline is three 
days and we must be sent originals.  The intention of the Evidential Flexibility 
instruction is that applicants are to be allowed to fix minor errors and omissions (e.g. 
if they have forgotten to submit a page of the bank statements) rather than be given 
extra time to obtain information which should have been submitted in the first 
instance.  We cannot comment on how a judge would view this until we have seen 
some appeal outcomes on this basis. 
 
Does this instruction apply retrospectively?  What if they ask for 
reconsideration of a case refused prior to 10 August? 
 
This only applies to cases outstanding at or submitted on 10 August and will not be 
applied retrospectively. 
 
Is it possible that this instruction will be withdrawn in October and how will this 
be interpreted by immigration judges? 
 
The instruction will be reviewed in October and one possible outcome is that this 
could be withdrawn, however a decision on this will be made at that time.  We cannot 
comment on how a judge would view this unless it is actually withdrawn and we see 
some appeal outcomes on this basis. 
 
 
Document 1 

 
Subjects Evidential Flexibility – Temporary Casework Instruction 
Valid from 10 August 2009 
Expires 31 October 2009 
Author <Removed> 
 
INSTRUCTION   
FOR USE BY CASEWORKERS PROCESSING TIERS 1, 2, 4 and 5 MIGRANT 
APPLICATIONS. 
The purpose of this instruction is to introduce a more customer-focused approach. 
As the Points Based System continues to bed in we will, where appropriate and 
practicable, endeavour to contact customers to correct minor omissions or errors in 
their applications.   
 
 
 
 



Background 
 
The intention for PBS was that, by making the system clear, objective and simple, we 
would not need to go out to customers to request missing information or to amend 
minor errors.  This has led to unexpected levels of cases being refused where 
applicants have made a minor omission of information or evidence. In many cases 
these refusal decisions are being overturned at appeal. 
 
We are not introducing caseworker discretion – the points criteria must be met in 
every case – but the instruction below shows how we intend to address this matter 
to ensure that applications can be processed quickly and effectively and genuine 
minor errors or omissions corrected, where appropriate and practicable.   
  
Instruction 
 
1. Whilst caseworkers do not have discretion in the application of policy, the 

attached instruction provides the authority to obtain further information or 
evidence from applicants in certain circumstances. 

 
2. Where there are minor errors or omissions in an application and there is sufficient 

evidence to show that without them, the application would likely be granted, case 
workers may contact the migrant or the sponsor, normally by telephone, to seek 
clarification or request missing documentation and information. 

 
3. In such circumstances, the migrant or sponsor should be informed that they have 

up to three working days to supply the information or evidence required.  Case 
workers should then add a note about the information requested and the deadline 
on CID and “B/F” the case for the agreed period, pending a response.  

 
4. The next working day after the end of the agreed period the case should be 

considered and a decision made, based on the evidence available at the time.  
No further delays should be allowed. 

5. All documentary evidence received must be treated in the same way as that 
submitted with the initial application. 

 
6. The attachment in the instruction below  provides a list of possible situations 

where further clarification could be sought for each tier.  These lists are not 
exhaustive and caseworkers should refer other scenarios to the senior 
caseworker or HEO for advice.  

 
7. The procedures introduced by this instruction will be reviewed at the end of    

October 2009 
 
8. The attached casework instruction should be followed by caseworking teams 

across all Tiers. 
 
 
 
 



Agreed by policy                                           Authorised by 
Name <Removed> Name:      Steve Lamb 
Grade  Grade:      5 
Date 24/7/09 Date: 6/8/09 
 
 
 
 
 
Document 2 
 

FAQ – Evidential Flexibility 
 

Is the piece of missing information or error a minor omission and on what basis does 

the HEO/Senior Caseworker decide?  

 

Factors that could be considered include: 

 

 although the item is not specifically stated on the “list of appropriate missing 
evidence”, is the item similar?  If so, may be appropriate to request. 

 is it reasonable that failure to include this evidence was a genuine mistake?  If so, 
may be appropriate to request. 

 is it likely that the missing evidence is easy to obtain?  If so, may be appropriate to 
request. 

 if the applicant has provided two forms of evidence from the same source which 
cannot be accepted, a further independent source of evidence can be requested (e.g. 
under Tier 1 supplied a letter and wage slips from an employer – caseworkers can 
request bank statements as a second form of corroborative evidence). 

 if an applicant has provided all online bank statements that have not been stamped or 
signed, HEOs can approve requesting stamped and signed copies. 

 

Where HEO/Senior Caseworkers decide that it is appropriate to request a note should be 

kept of the circumstances and this fed back as part of the review process. 

 

If multiple pieces of evidence are missing or multiple errors have been made, how 

does the HEO/Senior Caseworker decide if it is appropriate to go out for further 

information? 

 

HEOs should ask similar questions to those above, but must also consider the following: 

 

If the missing pieces of evidence are within the same attribute caseworkers can request this.  

If they cover more than one attribute then this should not be requested.  For example: 

 

Under Tier 1, if the applicant has missed a wage slip and a bank statement and so cannot 

score sufficient points for Previous Earnings, then these could be requested. 

 

However if they had also failed to provide a qualification and could not score points for 

Qualification then we would not request any additional information. 

 



Where HEO/Senior Caseworkers decide that it is appropriate to request a note should be 

kept of the circumstances and this fed back as part of the review process. 

 

Three unsuccessful attempts have been made to contact the applicant/rep/sponsor by 

telephone, can the HEO/Senior caseworker authorise further attempts? 

 

Yes, where the HEO/Senior Caseworker deems it to be appropriate. 

For example – if we hold a mobile/employer number or the times of the attempted calls. 

 

The deadline is three working days.  Does the information need to have been sent 

within the three working days, or does it need to have been received within the three 

days? 

 

The date of receipt by UKBA is the applicable date.  This does not necessarily mean the 

information is on the caseworking team or with the case owner, just that it should be with 

UKBA. 

 

Why are we requesting the information via special next day delivery? 

 

We have recommended special next day delivery to improve the likelihood of receipt within 

our stated deadline. The customer will be able to track for themselves whether what they 

have sent has arrived with UKBA.    

 

What line should we take if customers refuse to pay for special next day delivery? 

 

This is for the customer to decide. If they choose to send something via first or second class 

post, they run a greater risk of this not reaching us within the 3 day deadline. 

   

Should caseworkers request the recorded/special delivery number? 

 

This should not be necessary. The customer will be able to track for themselves whether 

what they have sent has arrived with UKBA 

 

Can we accept courier deliveries? 

 

No. We strongly recommend that customers send the evidence required by special next day 

delivery. 

 

***FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY NOT FOR EXTERNAL COMMUNICATION*** 

(If in exceptional circumstances it might be appropriate to accept delivery of the documents 

via courier the caseworker should discuss this with the HEO/Senior Caseworker who will 

need to ensure that the necessary arrangement are made with both the customer and 

reception/public enquiry office for this to happen) 

 

Can we accept applicants bringing information to the PEO? 

 

No. We strongly recommend that customers send the evidence required by special next day 

delivery. 

 



***FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY NOT FOR EXTERNAL COMMUNICATION*** 

(If in exceptional circumstances it might be appropriate to accept delivery of the documents 

via courier the caseworker should discuss this with the HEO/Senior Caseworker who will 

need to ensure that the necessary arrangement are made with both the customer and 

reception/public enquiry office for this to happen) 

 

Can we accept fax/scanned/photocopied information? 

 

In line with published guidelines we only accept original documentation. 

 

If a customer states that they can get the information to us, but not within the 3 day 

deadline, what should we inform them? 

 

If the HEO/Senior caseworker believes there are exceptional reasons for accepting the 

information beyond the three days and it is still practicable to do so they may make this 

decision accordingly. The exceptional circumstances must be recorded on GCID. However, 

we should not be holding cases open for extended periods. 

 

How does an HEO/Senior Caseworker decide whether it is appropriate to send a 

letter? 

 

Caseworkers are advised to get HEO/Senior Caseworker approval prior to sending a letter, 

as the three day deadline would be difficult for such applicants to meet.  The HEO/Senior 

Caseworker must decide whether it is appropriate in the circumstances of this case. 

 

Things to consider include: 

 how many attempts have been made to contact the applicant? i.e. if the applicant has 
provided a mobile number and a landline, a minimum of 6 attempts will have been 
made  

 is this the only method of contacting the applicant (no email/telephone number 
provided)?  

 how much information is missing?  is there one minor piece of info that would be easy 
to obtain or has the applicant failed to provide multiple piece of evidence? 

 

Where HEO/Senior Caseworkers decide that it is appropriate to do this a note should be kept 

of the circumstances and this fed back as part of the review process. 

 

If a full 3 working days have passed and no information has been received, how does 

the HEO/Senior Caseworker decide what further action to take?  

 

HEO/Senior Caseworkers should consider the method of contact with the customer.  If we 

have only requested information via letter, it is unlikely that evidence will have been received 

prior to the three day deadline (as the postal system means it can take at least a day to leave 

the UKBA’s possession).   

 

Additionally, while the post room will stamp all post with date of receipt, there is likely to be a 

delay in the workflow teams updating this information on CID.  HEO/Senior Caseworkers 

should ensure that if there is a backlog of post with the workflow team, additional time is 

given to allow these details to be recorded. 



Where HEO/Senior Caseworkers decide that it is appropriate to do BF the case for longer, a 

note should be kept of the circumstances and this fed back as part of the review process. 

 

If we request the information and it is not supplied, would the case also be refused on 

paragraph 322(9) of the Immigration Rules?  

 

No. It should be sufficient to refuse the applicant on the basis that they did not meet the 

points criteria in relation to the attributes. 

 

If we request the missing information and it is supplied but an additional refusal 

reason comes to light as a result what action should we take? 

 

An example of this could be where we request missing bank statements, additional 

statements are provided, but it becomes apparent from the additional statements that the 

applicant is in receipt of public funds and is not subject to an exception.  In these 

circumstances all the evidence should be considered and if appropriate the case should be 

refused.  You could not ignore the additional statements just because they raise a different 

ground for refusal. 

 

If we request the missing information, it is not received and the case refused, but it 

later becomes apparent that the information was with UKBA prior to the date of 

dispatch, what action should be taken?  

 

We should reconsider the case in line with the information provided.   

 

What information do we give applicants/representatives/sponsors, if we have not 

requested further information and the case is then refused? 

 

We only apply this operational procedure in certain circumstances. These are when a case is 

likely to be refused and a minor omission of information/evidence has been made which 

might otherwise lead us to approve. Clearly this will not apply to all refused cases.    

 

Will this instruction apply to applicants who were refused before 10 August who later 

request reconsideration? 

 

Our website states that as of 10th August 2009 we will request specific documents if they 

have been omitted from the application, for cases currently outstanding as of this date, or 

received on or after this date.   

 

Any applications which were decided before the above date were considered against the 

operational procedures in place at the time. 

 

As the Points Based System continues to bed in we will, where appropriate and practicable, 

endeavour to contact customers to correct minor omissions or errors in their applications. 

  

Applications can only be considered in accordance with the policy and operational 

procedures in force at the time of consideration.  The UKBA reserves the right to change 

these.  

 



What do we inform customers who have previously been refused on missing 

information/minor errors who reapplied at a later date and were then approved? 

 

We are unable to give a refund on cases of this type as they were considered in line with the 

operational procedure in place at the date of application.  Please see answer above for 

further details. 

 

If applicants have previously been refused on missing evidence but inform us that 

they have an outstanding appeal, should we reconsider the case by asking for the 

missing evidence? 

 

No.  The case was considered on the evidence and operational procedures in place at the 

time of application, therefore we will not reconsider on this basis.  

 

Applications can only be considered in accordance with the policy and operational 

procedures in force at the time of consideration.  The UKBA reserves the right to change 

these.  

 

Will this instruction apply to all cases received after 10 August or all cases not yet 

decided at the above date? 

 

The instruction applies to any Tier 1, 2, 4 or 5 migrant application which is under 

consideration as of 10 August 2009, as well as any applications submitted on or after this 

date. This instruction applies to main applicants and their associated dependants regardless 

of whether the dependant applies separately at a later date. 

 

Who do we contact if there is both an applicant and representative? 

 

The caseworker should attempted to contact the rep in the first instance however we must 

make all reasonable attempts to obtain the information, therefore should contact every 

available telephone number and email address.  

 

If we contact the applicant by phone what proof have we that this call took place? 

 

Caseworkers should ensure they keep full records on CID listing the time and date of call, as 

well as the number that they contacted.  These should be noted in any refusal decision as 

per the caseworking instruction. Where we have an email address for the 

applicant/rep/sponsor the caseworker should follow up any telephone conversations via 

email. 

 


